



Commission de la santé mentale du Canada

Expanding Access to Psychotherapy: Mapping Lessons Learned from Australia and the United Kingdom to the Canadian Context

August 2018

mentalhealthcommission.ca

Acknowledgments

This document is a collaboration between the Mental Health Commission of Canada's (MHCC) Knowledge Exchange Centre (Christopher Canning, Francine Knoops, Lara di Tomasso, Bonita Varga), and independent researchers Mary Bartram, PhD and Howard Chodos, PhD.

Research and writing of this document was led by Mary Bartram, under contract with the MHCC, with expert advice and input offered by subject-matter experts (SMEs). We would like to express deep gratitude to the members of MHCC's provincial and territorial advisory group (PTAG) and other subject-matter experts (SMEs) who provided critical input, review and guidance in the development of this document.

© 2018 Mental Health Commission of Canada ISBN: 978-1-77318-082-3 Legal deposit National Library of Canada

Ce document est disponible en français.

This document is available at http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca



Health Canada Santé Canada

The views represented herein solely represent the views of the Mental Health Commission of Canada. Production of this material is made possible through a financial contribution from Health Canada.

Key Messages

Access can be improved but improving equity will require concerted effort.

- The significant increases in access to psychotherapy that have been achieved in the UK and in Australia can be replicated in Canada.
- The inequities in access and outcomes experienced with Improving Access to Psychological Therapies in the UK and with Better Access in Australia suggest that concerted effort will be required to reduce similar inequities in Canada.

There are trade-offs between grant-based and insurance-based approaches.

- IAPT's central control, tight management to standards and targets, and robust data have achieved impressive results, but require significant workforce and administrative resources.
- Better Access' more hands-off reliance on professional self-regulation and administrative Medicare data has been able to greatly increase access but provides less quality assurance.
- Either IAPT's grant-based model or Better Access' insurance-based model would be feasible in Canada's more decentralized context, where provincial and territorial governments have both sets of policy levers as well as targeted fiscal support from the \$5B federal transfer.
- Universal approaches can be combined with targeted programming to promote equitable uptake.

Reforms will need to be adapted to the unique features of the Canadian context.

- Several issues that arise from the unique features of Canada's deep but narrow Medicare model demand particular consideration: whether to provide first-dollar coverage or require co-payments; inequities caused by the absence of public insurance coverage for non-physician psychotherapy providers; potential cost-shifting from employment-based insurance; and coordinating a system of stepped care.
- While existing Canadian services are challenged by fragmentation, gaps and inequities, there are strengths to draw on in community mental health, collaborative care, employment-based insurance, and on-the-ground support for implementation.
- Seamless integration with federally-funded services (for First Nations, Inuit, veterans, military personnel, refugees and people in the criminal justice system) requires additional attention in the Canadian context.
- In Canada's decentralized and two-tier system, reforms will require a strong approach to performance management, with clear equity targets from the outset.
- Workforce engagement, capacity development and increased supply have been key drivers for reform in both the UK and Australia, and may be even more so in Canada where mental health workforce planning (and data) is relatively weak.

International lessons learned point to several system design parameters.

Based on international lessons learned, either grant-based or insurance-based Canadian reforms should: include a range of
qualified providers and evidence-based psychotherapies; allow flexibility with referral mechanisms and caps on the number of
sessions; and start with mild to moderate mental health problems before broadening the scope.

Canada has an opportunity to demonstrate international leadership.

• Canada has an opportunity to be an international leader in explicitly including psychotherapy for substance use, and engaging people with lived experience in the design and delivery of psychotherapy reform (including peer support).

Table of Contents

KEY MESSAGES	2
INTRODUCTION	4
Why is this an important policy issue?	4
Why is there a window of opportunity for reform?	4
What is the purpose of this discussion paper?	4
FIRST COMPONENT: IMPLEMENTATION LESSONS LEARNED FROM INTERNATIONAL REFORMS	5
Which countries will be included and why?	5
What are the key features of the UK and Australian models?	5
What are the implementation lessons learned from Australia and the UK?	6
Planning Lessons	6
Funding Lessons	7
Service Provision Lessons	8
Equity and Scope Lessons	10
Monitoring Lessons	12
Sustainability Lessons	13
CONCLUSION OF THE FIRST COMPONENT	13
SECOND COMPONENT: ADAPTING INTERNATIONAL LESSONS TO THE CANADIAN CONTEXT	14
What are the salient features of the Canadian context for psychotherapy reform?	14
How do the international lessons map onto the Canadian context?	15
Planning Considerations	16
Funding Considerations	17
Service Provision Considerations	19
Equity and Scope Considerations	21
Monitoring Considerations	22
Sustainability Considerations	23
CONCLUSION OF THE SECOND COMPONENT	23
ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES.	24
Canadian grant-based psychotherapy model	24
Canadian insurance-based psychotherapy model	25
Canadian collaborative care-based psychotherapy model	26
REFERENCES	27

Introduction

Why is this an important policy issue?

Equitable access to psychotherapy¹ is a striking gap in the broad range of services and supports that are available in Canada to foster recovery and well-being across the population. The long-standing exclusion of allied mental health professional services from provincial and territorial health insurance plans has contributed to (a) high rates of unmet need (particularly for psychotherapy) (b) greater financial barriers for the estimated 12 million Canadians without access to employment-based psychotherapy benefits, and (c) broader underfunding of mental health services (at only 5 to 7% of total public spending on health in Canada) (1-4). Facing similar challenges, other OECD countries, most notably Australia and the UK, have been able to introduce major reforms to improve access to psychotherapy.

Why is there a window of opportunity for reform?

The new \$5B targeted federal transfer to improve access to mental health services presents a significant opportunity for provincial and territorial governments in Canada to implement similar reforms over the next ten years. As the terms and conditions of the bilateral FPT transfer agreements have yet to be announced, it is not yet clear how much of this new funding will go toward improving access to counselling, psychotherapies and psychological services. Nevertheless, in February 2017, Ontario announced a \$73M investment (over three years) in a new Structured Psychotherapy Program, and in December 2017, Quebec announced \$35M for the first phase of a new public psychotherapy program (5-6). As these new programs are launched, and as other provinces and territories consider their options, there would appear to be considerable potential for reform.

What is the purpose of this discussion paper?

The purpose of this discussion paper is to support on-going dialogue and evidence-informed decision-making at the system and service-planning levels regarding the expansion of access to psychotherapy in Canada. The paper is composed of three components. The first component summarizes lessons learned from the UK and Australia. In the second component, these lessons are mapped onto Canada's unique (and uniquely decentralized) policy and service delivery context. The concluding component sets out three illustrative examples of how international lessons learned could be adapted to the Canadian context. A wide range of implementation issues are considered, building off of the Mental Health Commission of Canada's (MHCC) 2017 discussion paper and roundtable that focused on the policy rationale for expanding access and a comparison of grant and insurance-based models (7-8)². While consideration of specific population groups is beyond the scope of this paper, reference is made to stages of life and diverse populations where relevant to the broader discussion. Senior provincial and territorial officials have been consulted over the course of the paper's development.

¹ In this paper, the term psychotherapy is used to refer to counselling, various psychotherapies, and psychological services, in keeping with the approach taken by the recent programs announced by Ontario and Quebec.

² In keeping with Chodos' 2017 paper for the MHCC, grant-based approaches "use public money to hire additional providers of counselling, psychotherapy and psychological services within publicly funded health care and social service vehicles that already exist (or that might be developed for this purpose)," and insurance-based approaches "allow privately employed providers of counselling, psychotherapy and psychological services to bill government for their services" (7).

First component: Implementation lessons learned from international reforms

Which countries will be included and why?

Implementation lessons will be drawn from the United Kingdom (England) and Australia, for several reasons. First, both countries have recent experience implementing reforms to address similar challenges to those faced in Canada, including high rates of unmet need, lost productivity, and limited public coverage of allied mental health professional services. Second, the contrast between the implementation of the grant-based approach in the UK and the insurance-based approach in Australia is instructive for considering options in the Canadian context. Third, as parliamentary democracies with broadly universal healthcare systems, the lessons learned from implementation in the UK and Australia have a high likelihood of relevance for Canada.

Service system designs in other countries that are beyond the scope of this paper may also be of interest to policy makers and planners. For example, the United States has provided public funding for psychotherapy provided by a range of allied mental health professionals since the start of Medicaid and Medicare, and the Parity Act now requires private insurers to provide mental health and substance use services on par with physical health services (9-10). The Netherlands also has a long history of public insurance for psychotherapy services provided by Primary Care Psychologists (11).

What are the key features of the UK and Australian models?

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) was introduced in the UK in 2008 in response to National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines for the treatment of depression and anxiety, coupled with a very strong business case (12). IAPT is a grants-based program with distinct staff and standards, centrally administered by National Health Services (NHS) England and offered in every district. The program is free at the point of delivery, and provided by a workforce with either IAPT-specific or IAPT-approved training. IAPT follows a stepped-care model, with the majority of services offered through lower-intensity Tier 1 interventions such as online CBT-based self-help and psychoeducation groups, and a smaller number of Tier 2 face-to-face therapies as required. Pre- and post-measures of symptoms are collected at every session, and reported monthly through NHS Digital on a district-by-district basis. Clear targets were set at the outset; these included reach (15% of adults with depression and anxiety), wait times (80% seen within 28 days) and recovery rates (50%, by which IAPT means that half of the people who complete treatment will have moved from meeting diagnostic criteria for diagnosis, to not meeting these criteria). While these targets have been met on average, there is considerable variation between districts and population groups. IAPT is currently expanding to include a child and youth service, and to provide services for people with co-morbid depression and anxiety and chronic physical health problems, as well as psychotherapy for people with more severe mental disorders such as schizophrenia.

In 2006, the Australian Commonwealth government introduced the Better Access to Psychiatrists, Psychologists and General Practitioners through the MBS Initiative (Better Access) in response to concerns regarding low rates of service utilization among Australians with common mental disorders (13). Better Access is an insurance-based approach that expanded universal public insurance (through Medicare) to cover psychotherapy provided by psychologists, social workers and occupational therapists. Better Access is more a specific set of Medicare items than a distinct program per se, with providers working in private practice and regulated by their respective professional associations. Providers can choose whether to charge co-payments or to provide services free at the point of delivery by bulk-billing at the Medicare rate. Better Access is complemented by smaller amounts of federal funding for two other kinds of services: Access to Allied Psychological Services (ATAPS), which is a grant-based program targeting low-income and vulnerable populations, and various internet-based Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (iCBT) initiatives coordinated through a digital mental health gateway. The estimated treatment rate for mental disorders in Australia increased from 37% in 2006-07 to 46% in 2009-

³ IAPT's clinical definition of recovery should not be confused with recovery as a guiding principle for system transformation, as illustrated in the MHCC's definition of recovery: "living a satisfying, hopeful and contributing life, even with on-going limitations from mental health problems and illnesses." (81, p. 34)

10, although concerns have been raised about inequities in access (these will be explored in greater detail below) (14-15). Coverage of telehealth services under Better Access has recently been expanded, to improve reach in rural areas (13).

What are the implementation lessons learned from Australia and the UK?

Lessons learned from the implementation of Australia's insurance-based Better Access program and the UK's grant-based IAPT program are considered below, grouped into the following categories: planning, funding, service provision, equity and scope, monitoring, and sustainability. Supporting evidence is drawn from various policy and academic sources, and builds on the 2016 background paper and roundtable report from the MHCC (7-8). Moreover, the interviews conducted by Mary Bartram in the context of her doctoral research with key informants in the UK, Canada and Australia on government structure, service system design and equity in access to psychotherapy have provided a valuable resource for information (and quotes) regarding implementation lessons learned (16)⁴. Feedback from experts in the UK and Australia on an earlier draft of this component has also been considered.

Planning Lessons

Service system designs were closely aligned with available policy levers in specific government contexts. While this alignment may not have been explicit in the planning phase in either Australia or the UK, it does seem that both countries naturally gravitated toward the policy levers that were most readily available to them. In Australia, the insurance-based design of Better Access was able to take advantage of the federal government's jurisdiction over Medicare. Implementation was as straightforward as expanding the Medicare Benefits Schedule to include the services of psychologists and other allied mental health professionals, with referrals and treatment plans first submitted by GPs in a gatekeeper role.

The Commonwealth government wanted something done and wanted something done quickly. There is the question of what levers they can pull. The levers of things like the ATAPS services were more complex, and involved taking on a whole lot of additional responsibility, you have to set up and plan and deliver some kind of a stepped care model and you have to triage and you have to run in effect 100 little different mental health care systems, one for each division. In contrast to which, what you have to do to get the funding out through Medicare is you create some Medicare Benefit Schedule entitlements and you create a process which legitimizes people to use them and away they go, the rest of it is done by the private sector. (16: Australian researcher)

Similarly, in the UK, IAPT's grant-based approach took full advantage of a more unitary government structure in England (Scotland, Wales and Ireland have developed their own approaches). For the first two years of the program, the UK Department of Health had full control over the program, even to the point of cutting the cheques for providers. While this centralized control has loosened up somewhat over the course of implementation, the program is still very resource-intensive and centrally-directed, with IAPT accountable to UK Department of Health targets, administered by NHS England, commissioned at the district level, and implemented by dedicated IAPT storefronts. This centralized approach has been critical for the introduction of IAPT as a stand-alone program, with a purpose-built workforce, tight monitoring to standards, and clear evidence of results across a number of system indicators.

True increases in access were only brought about with increased supply of psychotherapy providers. Anything less than an increase in supply could look like increased access, but actually be a shift from one type of practice to another. On the one hand, Better Access was able to draw from a steady increase in the psychology workforce that had begun in 2001, which seems to have developed organically in response to the introduction of ATAPS that year and the anticipation of further increases in public funding. Certainly, the size of the employed psychology workforce increased rapidly after Better Access was launched, from approximately 14,000 in 2006 to 22,000 in 2008 (17)⁵. On the other hand, the largest absolute increase was in major cities where the number of employed psychologists increased from 75 to 95 per 100,000 between

⁴ In accordance with Carleton University's Research Ethics Board-A clearance #105482, quotes from key informant interviews are not identified by name, but rather by primary role and country of origin.

⁵ See Figure 14 on page 32 of the Health Workforce Australia report (17).

2006 and 2011, in contrast to an increase from 26 to 38 per 100,000 in remote areas (17). ⁶ By giving psychologists the opportunity to both bill Medicare and charge co-payments, Better Access may have unintentionally compounded long-standing incentives for psychologists to practice in urban areas. For its part, IAPT actually trained up an IAPT-specific workforce, not only because there were fewer allied mental health professionals already practicing in England, but also in keeping with IAPT's aim to maintain tight control over its fidelity to evidenced-based approaches, its distinct program identity, and its stepped care model. Five thousand therapists were trained in the first 5 years, including a mix of Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners to provide low intensity interventions and more highly trained therapists (generally recognized health professionals such as psychologists, social workers, counsellors, nurses, etc. with training in IAPT-approved therapies) to provide high intensity interventions (12).

Both plans have featured strong engagement with a broad range of providers, including GPs. IAPT has included a range of service providers from the outset, cultivated through a workforce development group, a network of primary care leads, direct cultivation of champions to promote the service to colleagues, and annual national networking forums (18-19). Further, like all NHS services, IAPT services are commissioned by Clinical Commission Groups that are chiefly led by GPs as well as other service providers (20). IAPT is supported by *We Need to Talk*, a broad coalition of provider groups and mental health charities that advocates for continued expansions in access to psychotherapy (21). In Australia, Better Access has included new Medicare items for GPs, psychiatrists and psychologists from the outset. GPs have the privileged gate-keeper position, and are able to claim reimbursement for the completion of treatment plans according to a standard template (22).

Engagement with service users and inclusion of peer support has been limited. Engagement with service users, both in program design and in service delivery through public funding for peer support, does not appear to have been a strong feature of either IAPT or Better Access. Some qualitative data was gathered from service users as part of the Better Access evaluation and as part of the evaluation of a demonstration project of IAPT services for people with severe mental illnesses (23-24). Peer support has not been integrated in a systematic way into either IAPT or Better Access, although some IAPT services do provide access to the Big White Wall, an online service that includes a strong peer support component (25). It may be that the engagement of people living with mild to moderate mental illnesses is less well developed than engagement with people with lived experience of severe mental illnesses, who have typically spearheaded the consumer-survivor movement and the drive for a recovery-oriented mental health system.

Nevertheless, at a time when "patient" engagement is a mantra of health system reform, the lack of engagement with service users in Better Access and IAPT is an important lesson for Canada.

Time invested in upfront planning prevented the UK from running into some of the implementation challenges experienced in Australia. Although Australia had implemented some smaller scale reforms to improve access to psychotherapy in the early 2000s, the expansion of Medicare under Better Access was implemented very quickly. The lack of planning would appear to have contributed to some unexpected challenges, including higher-than-anticipated demand and associated costs (26), inequitable distribution of services (15), and little upfront planning for evaluation and performance monitoring (23). By contrast, IAPT was meticulously planned, starting with demonstration projects, purpose-built training, and clear targets supported by extensive data collection and public reporting. While IAPT also ran into challenges with inequities between districts and ethnic groups (see below), it has had the systems in place to support on-going quality improvement.

Funding Lessons

The mix of first-dollar and co-payments was in keeping with the rest of the health system. IAPT services are free at the point of use, in keeping with the first-dollar coverage⁷ provided by NHS England. In Australia, Better Access providers have the same discretion over co-payments as other Medicare providers: they can either provide services free at the point of use

⁶ See Table 22 on page 39 (17).

⁷ First-dollar coverage covers the full cost of a service, without any user fees or co-payments, as is the case for services covered by both NHS England and Medicare in Canada.

by "bulk-billing" at the Medicare rate, or they can charge co-payments at whatever amount they decide to set. This alignment has made it easier to integrate the new services into the existing health system in both countries, although in the case of Australia this has perpetuated inequities associated with co-payments (see below).

Both grant-based and insurance-based approaches can successfully increase access. The reach and effectiveness of IAPT has steadily increased, with just under 1 million adults receiving IAPT services in 2016/17 (or just more than the original IAPT target of 15% of the 6 million people with anxiety and depression) and IAPT-defined recovery rates of nearly 50% for those completing treatment in the same time period (12, 27). As noted above, utilization of mental health treatment services in Australia climbed steeply from 37% to 46% of people with mental disorders in the first four years of Better Access (14).

Insurance-based approaches may require more careful cost-control measures, and grant-based approaches may need ring-fenced funding at the outset. With such high demand, Better Access experienced higher than projected costs: spending increased an average of 8.5% per year between 2007 and 2011 (26). Growth in utilization rates slowed after caps on the number of sessions were lowered in 2011 from 18 to 10 sessions (28). By contrast, as a grant-based program, IAPT had to protect its funding envelope from other parts of the health system. In the first two years of the IAPT program, funding was ring-fenced and managed by the UK Department of Health; funding is now part of the block of healthcare funding managed by local commissioners (12).

The risk of cost-shifting from privately-insured to publicly-funded services needs to be considered in context. This risk was particularly evident in the Australian experience, where private insurance claims for psychological services dropped off significantly after the introduction of Better Access in 2006 despite no evident changes in insurance benefits (29-30). However, this decrease needs to be considered in context. Even though about half of Australians have individually-purchased private health insurance with some form of extended health benefits, the scope of private insurance claims for psychological services was dwarfed by the subsequent uptake of publicly-funded services through Better Access. It is unclear whether similar cost-shifting occurred in the UK after the introduction of IAPT, but the number of people with private health insurance is lower to begin with (estimated to be at most 11% of the population; 31).

Service Provision Lessons

A range of providers with clear scopes of practice can be effectively deployed, with or without tight ties to registration and legislation. The workforces for both Better Access and IAPT have reached beyond psychologists, with IAPT taking the most innovative approach. IAPT's low-intensity services are provided by Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners (PWPs) who have either IAPT or IAPT-approved training and supervision (IAPT PWP training is delivered according to a set curriculum over 45 days; 32). High intensity therapists are generally (but not always) allied mental health professionals who are registered with their respective colleges or associations; however, these providers are required to take IAPT or IAPT-approved training in one or more evidence-based modalities (33). IAPT does not tie scopes of practice to regulation or registration in professional colleges per se, so long as providers meet IAPT's criteria for low and high intensity therapists. By contrast, Better Access ties scopes of practice tightly to registration with relevant professional colleges, which are in turn tied to the related laws of each Australian state or territory. Better Access pays higher rebates to clinical psychologists for more intensive psychological therapies, but also covers the services of registered psychologists, social workers and occupational therapists (34-35). iCBT is still evolving in Australia as a low-intensity approach, and as yet, a PWP-style workforce is only in the early stages of development.

While system control and continuity of care is greater with GP-referral, self-referral empowers service users and promotes equitable access. Australians require a referral and a treatment plan from their GPs in order to access Better Access (22). GP-referral strengthens continuity of care between GPs and psychological services. In an insurance-based system with few

⁸ If providers forego the option of charging co-payments over and above the Medicare rate, they can bill Medicare in bulk (thus "bulk-billing") and avoid the costs of collecting payments directly from service users

⁹ Between 2006-07 and 2009-10 privately-insured psychological services dropped steeply (from 417,199 to 249,023 sessions); however, this drop represented only 6.7% of the growth in Better Access services (from 668,902 to 3,169,976 sessions) (30).

other controls on service provision (and thus on costs), GP-referral likely acted as both a quality control mechanism and brake on the potential for runaway demand. Ironically, demand was higher than expected despite this brake, but it is unclear how much higher costs might have escalated if self-referral had been allowed. At the same time, the National Mental Health Commission in Australia has recommended that Better Access retain GP-referral but shift the responsibility for treatment planning to allied mental health professionals, with the requirement that these be shared back to the referring GPs (36). Either way, GP-referral may be particularly viable in Australia given its high rates of physician coverage (3.52 per 1000, above the OECD average of 3.19 per 1000) and investments in rural GP capacity (37-38). By contrast, the UK has 2.79 physicians per 1000, just a bit higher than Canada's 2.66 per 1000 (37).

IAPT has taken a more flexible approach, allowing self-referral, GP-referral, and referral from employment and other community agencies. In a grant-based system with many controls on service provision, there have been fewer concerns about cost overruns; IAPT has expanded access in step with how many programs it has been able to fund, with a focus on reducing wait-times when demand has outstripped capacity. Opening the program to self-referral has not resulted in a flood of the "worried well" (who would be screened out at any rate if they did not meet criteria for the program), and has helped IAPT to improve its reach with underrepresented Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) populations (39). As will be discussed below, more equitable referral rates have not always translated into equitable outcomes, but at least IAPT is getting people in the door. While self-referral does not foster continuity of care with GPs, it may engage people who are not well-engaged with primary care (including those in rural communities with poor GP coverage).

Effective stepped care requires seamless transitions, both within and between services (including primary healthcare). IAPT is able to provide seamless stepping up and down between its low intensity and high intensity tiers. However, as a discrete service that allows self-referral, there is no guarantee of transitions with primary healthcare and more specialized mental health services. This weakness is mitigated somewhat by referrals from GPs and community agencies, and by the fact that IAPT services are often provided in community-based clinics and delivered by the same organizations that run specialist services. Moreover, with new and expanded funding, IAPT is prioritizing integration with physical healthcare; 22 new projects are underway toward a goal of placing 3000 new therapists in primary healthcare settings (40). Better Access is not part of a stepped care approach per se, and what does exist in Australia is fragmented. Some low intensity iCBT is provided (with some federal support) by a variety of organizations (such as MoodGYM, beyondblue and ThisWayUp), but the main focus of public funding is on high intensity therapy provided in the offices of allied mental health professionals through Better Access (with some targeted programming provided through ATAPS). While GP-referral helps connect Better Access and ATAPS to primary healthcare, transitions between tiers are further complicated in Australia by State governments having jurisdiction over hospital services and the Commonwealth government having jurisdiction over primary care. As of 2015, these challenges are being prioritized in new federally-funded Primary Health Networks, which have a remit to coordinate needs-based planning with state-funded Local Hospital Networks and to strengthen the stepped-care approach for mental health service delivery (41).

Telehealth and e-health innovations can be fully integrated into service delivery models. As noted above, Australia's focus on iCBT has yet to be fully integrated into a stepped care model, and Better Access is just beginning to prioritize telehealth access (13). IAPT has included a strong focus on low-intensity services such as psychoeducation groups and online manualized CBT from the outset, and is currently making a proactive effort to assess and integrate evidence-based digital therapies (42).

Direct implementation support plays a key role in a grant-based approach. Over and above the purpose-built training and weekly supervision, IAPT provides direct change management and technical assistance to IAPT programs. This was particularly important during the initial roll-out, as providers adjusted to new requirements and as organizations adjusted to the presence of a new program.

I think that it is often not realized that just announcing a policy and setting out targets and some money is not a very good way of getting things to happen. If you are rolling out something that is genuinely innovative and not just fine-tuning something that exists, we really need to put the support in place at a local level... This isn't about telling people what to do, it's about facilitating learning across different parts of the NHS and across different agencies. (16: UK policymaker)

With a rigorous performance management system, on-going training has been key for quality improvement, and inspired clinical leadership has been needed to mitigate the risk of providers feeling over-managed or judged. The National Mental Health Development Unit (funded by NHS England) provided considerable implementation support during the early years of IAPT. As IAPT's National Clinical and Informatics Advisor, David Clark has spearheaded clinical research efforts first from the London School of Economics, and more recently through his post at Oxford. Better Access is largely a self-managed program, and has not featured much in the way of direct implementation support beyond training providers to manage the paperwork and communicating eligibility criteria to the public (43). GPs are also required to take a minimum of 6 hours of mental health training to be able to bill under Better Access (44).

Strict adherence to evidence-based approaches demonstrates strong outcomes, but requires strong management and constrains choice. IAPT is managed very tightly to ensure strict adherence to the NICE guidelines, providing only therapies deemed to have sufficient levels of evidence such as Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and Interpersonal Therapy (IPT). IAPT has accordingly been criticized for limiting choice, and for minimizing strong evidence regarding the role of therapeutic alliance in clinical outcomes (45). IAPT co-founders David Clark and Richard Layard (an economist and member of the House of Lords) maintain that the type of therapy is more important than therapeutic alliance, and can point to IAPT's strong clinical outcomes (measured on a session by session basis) as evidence (12). Meanwhile, Better Access relies on professional self-regulation to ensure the quality of services provided. While some guidance regarding evidence-based approaches is provided, adherence is only occasionally audited (46). While this is a low-cost and defensible approach, Better Access does not have the same level of quality assurance provided by IAPT.

The average number of sessions seems to naturally land at 5 to 6, although the range will vary considerably. Prior to 2011, the cap on Better Access sessions was 6 plus 12 for exceptional circumstances, with GP approval. Even with the potential for 18 sessions, the 2011 evaluation found that only 5 sessions were used on average (23). In response to these findings as well as to concerns about unexpectedly high costs, caps were lowered to 6, with the potential for 4 more per GP review (47). IAPT would not appear to have formal caps on the number of sessions. Nevertheless, data from 2014-15 showed that people used an average of 6.3 sessions, including both low and high intensity therapies (48). However, the average number of sessions may be skewed by the inclusion of people who choose to drop out after one or two sessions, and is not indicative of the range in either jurisdiction. Some people with moderate depression and anxiety may still seek and benefit from more than even ten sessions.

Equity and Scope Lessons

Despite being universal, both IAPT and BA have run into equity problems. The most recent study has found utilization of Better Access services to be much higher in urban than in rural areas, and much lower in areas with greater socioeconomic disadvantage (15). While such disparities existed prior to 2006, they were likely compounded by the ability of allied mental health professionals to charge co-payments under the Better Access scheme. Such co-payments not only pose financial barriers for service users, they also provide disincentives for providers to practice in more disadvantaged (often rural) areas.

Why would you as a business person trying to make a livelihood, why would you go and earn [an average salary] in a poorer area, when you can go and earn [considerably more] treating people who are more like you and who also ... have needs for care, but they have more control over their lives, are more likely to turn up for appointments, and they pay more? (16: Australian researcher)

In response to these concerns, new funding for Better Access services was introduced in 2017 to enhance telehealth services (13). The Australian National Mental Health Commission has also recommended that Better Access should offer incentives for allied mental health professionals to practice in rural areas (36). At the same time, Better Access has reached so many people that it has been able to provide unprecedented access for rural and disadvantaged populations.

[Better Access] made psychological services including psychotherapy affordable to the masses. ...Farmers tell me that they will sit on their tractors and nobody knows that they are participating in an e-mental health program. ...[F]rom the streets of highly multicultural disadvantaged communities to outback towns, ... whether it is face to

face or whether it is web-based, I know the difference people having access to psychological services is making. (16: Australian researcher)

Ethnicity and Indigenous identity were not examined in the 2011 evaluation of Better Access. However, Aboriginal and Torres Straight Islander populations in Australia have been found to have better access than non-Indigenous Australians to community mental health services, but similar rates of utilization of psychologist or psychiatrist services (49). In England, data has focused on inequities between districts and ethnic groups; for example, in 2012/13, white people made up 89% of IAPT users, even though they make up 86% of the population of England and Wales (according to 2011 census data; 50). IAPT reported outcomes related to socio-economic deprivation (measured by the Index of Multiple Deprivation) for the first time in 2015-16 (51). While referral rates increase as deprivation increases, treatment completion rates drop off. Further, IAPT-defined recovery rates in the most deprived decile were only 35%, compared with 55% in the least deprived decile. On the one hand, these disparities are linked to broader disparities in social determinants of health. On the other hand, people may be deprived of high-quality IAPT services as part and parcel of other forms of deprivation.

[B]roadly speaking in psychology they are two views... One of them was to say, is to say, look, if you're in a socially deprived area, then your environment is just so difficult, that psychology ... can only do so much for you.... The alternative view is that in most societies if you live in a socially deprived area, you're deprived of almost everything, and that includes good mental health services. One reason why you may get less good outcomes is that the services aren't so good. (16: UK researcher)

By using its extensive data to focus on quality improvement, IAPT may be able to reduce these inequities in outcomes. Cultural competency is also integrated throughout IAPT's low and high-intensity training curricula, in keeping with NICE guidelines (32, 52-53).

Universal approaches can be combined with targeted programming to promote equitable uptake. Both Better Access and IAPT are universal approaches (i.e. provided to all, without means-testing), but have added some supplemental targeting to promote equitable uptake. In Australia, the insurance-based Better Access is complemented by the smaller ATAPS program, which targets more disadvantaged groups and areas with a grants-based approach. Starting in 2017, ATAPS is being rolled into new Primary Health Networks (PHNs) with a mandate to tailor programming to the needs of district populations.

There is this recognition that Medicare is going to give you the broad coverage, but if you want to really try to address specific levels of needs that might not be catered for well by Medicare, then you might need parallel programs that are specifically designed to try to address things. For example, the PHNs have all had to do these mental health needs assessments in their areas. And that's guiding the commissioning processes. (16: Australian researcher)

In the UK, IAPT promotes tailoring to local needs at the district level. For example, local commissioning bodies and IAPT programs are encouraged to tailor services to the needs of the local population (e.g. by offering evening hours) and to partner with local community organizations to strengthen outreach to underrepresented groups while still maintaining fidelity to the model.

Basically IAPT is devolved to Clinical Commission Groups to make sure that they are meeting the needs of their local populations. It is up to them to make sure that they meet needs related to equality and diversity. If there is anything specific and tailored going on, it would be going on at that level. (16: UK policymaker)

At the same time, the IAPT target of reaching 15% of adults with depression and anxiety works against this tailoring, as there are few incentives to do outreach to hard-to-reach groups.

Specific equity targets are needed to hold both IAPT and Better Access accountable for equitable outcomes. In addition to

targets related to geography, ethnicity and socio-economic status, program uptake has been lowest for seniors and for men in both countries (50, 54). IAPT has also been collecting data on sexual orientation from the outset, and has found that recovery rates are higher for heterosexual service users than for service users who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or uncertain about their sexual orientation (51).

A narrow scope makes it easier to demonstrate results, but also creates pressures to broaden the reach. While the evidence about the outcomes of Better Access is only based on small sub-sample, it can point to clinical improvements for its target population: people with mild to moderate depression and anxiety (23). With its more robust data set and ability to screen out, IAPT has demonstrated increased recovery rates over time for people with mild to moderate depression and anxiety disorders. Although declining the service is the main reason why people who are referred to IAPT do not continue on to treatment (51), IAPT's ability to screen out people with more complex needs has contributed to its success.

The reason the recovery rate increased is because [staff had been] delivering interventions and they were treating people perhaps IAPT is not designed for. For example, they had some therapists in that service who were offering treatment to asylum seekers who were suffering because they were very traumatized, complex trauma...[that] we're not expected to deal with in IAPT. And they were never going to achieve recovery as defined by IAPT. So, I moved that provision into a different part of the service. (16: UK stakeholder)

In this way, the narrow scope of both programs has contributed to their respective successes, which have in turn created pressure to broaden their reach. Australia has renewed its focus on people with more complex needs in the 2017 Fifth National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Plan, and in the UK, IAPT is expanding its scope to include people with more complex needs and children and youth (55, 12).

People with substance use disorders may well benefit and should not be excluded from psychotherapy services. Both IAPT and BA acknowledge high rates of concurrent depression, anxiety and substance use disorders, and the potential benefits of CBT and other psychotherapies for substance use problems. IAPT only excludes people with substance use disorders if their symptoms are too severe to benefit from talk therapy (much as people with active psychotic symptoms may be excluded), and encourages IAPT services to coordinate care with substance use services (56). Even though Better Access was launched in response to statistics that included substance use disorders, the program does emphasize depression and anxiety. However, Better Access does not exclude people with substance use disorders, even as a primary diagnosis (although this would appear to be the case for less than 6% of clients) (23). It is up to GPs to determine the potential benefit of psychotherapy as they develop individual care plans, which do acknowledge substance use as a distinct component (22).

Monitoring Lessons

A true learning system requires significant investment in data, coupled with inspirational leadership. Extensive clinical and administrative data is collected through IAPT, including at each individual session. This data is released monthly, and synthesized into annual reports. Such extensive monitoring has enabled IAPT to be a true learning system, and has guided steady improvement in quality toward the achievement of targets, which have in turn been informed by NICE. However, such a data-intensive approach clearly requires significant investment of resources. Moreover, strong clinical leadership is required for IAPT providers to embrace the learning opportunities provided by the data, and to prevent the workplace from feeling punitive.

You could if you're not careful find yourself as a clinician working in a service where you feel ... the outcome data is like a sword of Damocles hanging over you all the time... What you need to do is create a situation where you put in charge of these services really inspirational clinical leaders who are interested in the data, not because it's meeting targets and things, but instead because it's telling them and the service something really interesting about how they can achieve what they want to achieve with patients. (16: UK researcher)

Better Access relies primarily on administrative data from MBS claims, supplemented by a sample that was created for the 2011 evaluation. This approach is far less resource-intensive, but has left funders with far less information about both the

quality of the services provided, clinical outcomes, and socio-demographic factors.

I think we're getting access to care by paying more providers, but that is only the first step. ... [T]he missing thing is peering inside the box of the services that you'll be paying for, if you put taxpayer's money into it. The thing we commonly don't know is what actually, what intervention the person gets. (16: Australian researcher)

Clear targets increase accountability, but can create unintended incentives. In keeping with its data-rich approach, IAPT first set clear targets, and has since been able to clearly demonstrate that these targets have been met. While targets have been met as of 2017, they have also created incentives for IAPT administrators and providers to manage to targets, which can not only provide incentives for gaming the system but can also undermine the experience of service users while placing enormous stress on service providers.

[W]hen IAPT was set up, there were very, very strict targets and expectations set ..., and it's tight and managed within an inch of its life. Often, what strikes me is it's set up to work in a way that really work[s] against what's best for the patient... You end up distorting good clinical practice to meet targets... (16: UK researcher)

While Better Access does not have explicit targets, it has still been able to show a sizeable increase in treatment rates for people with mental disorders (14).

Clinical supervision plays a key role in promoting fidelity to evidence-based approaches. IAPT providers are required to have weekly supervision from IAPT supervisors. These IAPT supervisors must be experienced clinicians who have taken either IAPT supervisor training, or IAPT-approved training for supervisors of evidence-based approaches that are provided by IAPT (57). In Australia, Better Access relies on the supervision and evidence-based practice requirements that are set by the professional associations of eligible providers. On the one hand, this approach takes advantage of a better-developed allied mental health workforce. On the other hand, Better Access has less control than IAPT over fidelity to evidence-based approaches.

Sustainability Lessons

Bi-partisan support and high-profile champions have been important for securing and sustaining investment. In the UK, economist and member of the House of Lords Richard Layard and psychologist and researcher David Clark have been instrumental for making the initial case for IAPT, ensuring that IAPT delivers as promised, and sustaining political support for IAPT throughout changes in government. In Australia, politicians such as former PM John Howard (who spearheaded the launch of Better Access), former Victoria premier Jeff Kennett (who launched beyondblue) and current federal Minister of Health Greg Hunt have championed mental health, and funding for Better Access has been sustained across Liberal and Labour governments. Debates amongst clinician researchers such as Ian Hickie, Graham Meadows, and Jane Pirkis have also kept Better Access in the spotlight (58, 15, 59).

It is quite clear that in Australia, as I look back at the major reform moments, in particular the major injections of funds, they almost universally depended on a deep personal sponsorship from either the Prime Minister or the Minister of Health at the Commonwealth level. (16: Australian stakeholder)

CONCLUSION OF THE FIRST COMPONENT

The first component of this two-part discussion paper has focused on lessons learned from the implementation of reforms to improve access to psychotherapy in the UK and Australia. Many of these lessons highlight the relative merits of IAPT's grant-based approach vs the insurance-based Better Access initiative. Where IAPT's central control, tight management to standards and targets, and robust data collection has contributed to impressive results, the approach is highly resource intensive and requires inspiring clinical leadership to prevent undue stress on the workforce. Better Access' reliance on professional regulation and administrative Medicare data has lower levels of quality assurance, but has nevertheless been able to show impressive gains in access with a more hands-off model. Regardless of the approach, both models have confronted challenges with inequities. The second component of this paper maps these international

lessons learned onto the Canadian context, with a view to supporting on-going dialogue and evidence-informed decision-making at the system and service-planning levels regarding how best to implement similar reforms.

Second component: Adapting international lessons to the Canadian context

The second component of this discussion paper maps the lessons learned from reforms in Australia and the UK that were identified in the first component onto the Canadian context. For example, to what extent can the command-and-control approach taken in the UK be adapted to Canada's more decentralized context? What would need to be done to adapt Australia's Medicare-with-co-payments model to Canada's first-dollar Medicare system? This mapping exercise starts with the same broad categories identified in the first component, and considers the international lessons that are particularly relevant in the Canadian context as well as the information that is needed to guide high-level planning. With new federal funding starting in 2017, provincial and territorial governments are starting to announce reforms. For example, Ontario has announced a \$73M investment (over three years) in a new Structured Psychotherapy Program, and Quebec has announced \$35M for the first phase of a new public psychotherapy program (5-6). British Columbia has also included services for people with mild-to-moderate mental health and substance use conditions in its 2017 guidelines for primary care networks, and Newfoundland/Labrador has included expanded access to online therapy and Dialectic Behavioural Therapy as part of its bilateral funding agreement with the federal government (60-61).

What are the salient features of the Canadian context for psychotherapy reform?

The Canadian context has four features that are particularly relevant for psychotherapy reform: a highly decentralized government structure, a deep but narrow approach to Medicare, a mix of grant and insurance-based public funding models, and direct federal funding for some populations under federal jurisdiction, such as First Nations and Inuit, refugees, military personnel and veterans. The Canadian system is reviewed in more depth in the MHCC's previous paper on options for expanding access to psychotherapy (7).

The Canadian federation is highly decentralized, nowhere more so than in the health sector. Health is under provincial and territorial jurisdiction, and transfers from the Canadian federal government amount to only 23% of provincial and territorial spending on health (62). By comparison, the Australian federal government has jurisdiction over Medicare and contributes 61% of total public spending on health (63). At the same time, provincial and territorial governments in Canada do have considerable control over their health systems, but are challenged to raise enough revenue to cover rising health costs in the context of fiscal arrangements with the federal government. Between 2001 and 2016, health spending increased from 37% to 40% of total provincial program spending (averaged across all ten provinces; 64). Canada's decentralized federal structure contributed to another key feature of its health system: deep but narrow public health insurance. After intense federal/provincial negotiations in the 1950s and 1960s, first-dollar coverage (thus "deep" coverage) of hospital and physician services (thus "narrow" coverage) was introduced. Despite many efforts from all corners of the health system over the ensuing years, this coverage has never expanded to a broader range of medicallynecessary services such as pharmacare, dental care, homecare and psychotherapy. While the 1984 Canada Health Act gives provincial and territorial governments the leeway to fund these services, it does not obligate them to do so. As a result, psychotherapy in Canada is currently provided through a two-tier system. First-dollar public financing covers a narrow range of services that are either provided by family physicians or psychiatrists in private practice, in hospitals, or in publicly-funded clinics. Private financing (either through employment-based insurance or out-of-pocket payments) covers the broader range of services that are provided by psychologists, social workers, and other mental health professionals (non-physician providers). Accordingly, the estimated twelve million, generally lower-income Canadians who do not have employment-based benefits either have to pay out-of-pocket, queue for limited public services or do without (2).

While gaps and inequities characterize access to psychotherapy under this two-tier system, provincial and territorial health systems have made varying degrees of progress in providing access to publicly-funded services through a mix of insurance-based physician and hospital services and grant-based services in community mental health centres. Significant investments have also been made in various models of collaborative primary health care that typically provide access to interdisciplinary teams, including some form of mental health service provision (65). Benefits of collaborative care include improved coordination of services, patient experience, and timely access to a broader range of services. However, collaborative care models have proven expensive and have been described as "lackluster" relative to primary care reforms in counterpart countries (66-67). What is more, in the context of broader underfunding, both collaborative care and community mental health services have been challenged to provide timely access to mental health services (68-69).

One last feature stands as an exception to the general Canadian context: federal jurisdiction over psychotherapy services for some populations. Inuit and status First Nations have access to up to 22 hours of insurance-based professional psychotherapy through the federal Non-Insured Health Benefits' mental health crisis counselling program (70). Nevertheless, there are long-standing concerns about availability and cultural safety given the remoteness of many communities and variations in the cultural knowledge of service providers. Emotional supports and cultural supports (provided by Elders) have more recently been added to the Indian Residential Schools Resolution Health Support Program, although the future of this program after the Settlement Agreement has wound down (expected by 2019) is unclear. Similarly, while mental health services for veterans and military are often criticized given the high needs of these groups, the federal government funds psychotherapy services at a level beyond what is typically available to the general population. The federal government also covers up to 10 sessions of psychotherapy (20 if deemed medically necessary) for refugees (71).

On the one hand, the basic structure of publicly-funded healthcare has contributed to significant challenges in the Canadian context. For many historical reasons, Canada's total public spending on mental health is low, with estimates ranging from 5 to 7% of total public spending on health of compared to 13% in the UK (3, 4), and efforts to shift resources from hospital to community-based care have proved challenging. With the exclusion of allied health professionals from provincial insurance plans, unmet need for psychotherapy is particularly high (2). Significant income-based inequities in access have been found under the two-tier system (72). It has also been difficult to achieve strong accountability for results in such a decentralized system, where no one level of government has full responsibility for all aspects of health policy. This challenge is compounded for populations covered through federal programs, where fragmentation and gaps between federal and provincial/territorial services are long-standing concerns.

On the other hand, the Canadian context has several strengths that can be brought to bear on efforts to improve access to psychotherapy. Provincial and territorial jurisdiction over health has historically encouraged innovation in mental health service delivery (73) and will continue to do so. In part due to physician-centred Medicare, collaborative care models have been a strong focus of this innovation and, to some extent, allied mental health providers have been integrated into primary care settings in different ways across the country. Other sectors such as education have also made efforts to address unmet need. Meanwhile, employment-based benefits have gone some distance toward filling gaps in insurance coverage for psychotherapy, and, more recently, a few employers such as Manulife and Starbucks have made significant increases to employee mental health benefits (74-75). Lastly, governments in Canada can draw on lessons learned from a long history of federal universal insurance coverage for specific populations.

How do the international lessons map onto the Canadian context?

Implementation considerations of particular relevance to Canada are grouped into the same categories identified in the first section of this paper: planning, funding, service provision, equity and scope, monitoring and sustainability. International lessons are recapped in italics in text boxes at the outset of each category for ease of reference, with corresponding Canadian considerations highlighted in bold immediately afterward and then discussed in more detail below.

¹⁰ While the lower estimate (5%) includes only spending on hospitals, physicians and drugs, the higher estimate includes a range of community-based services as well as services for First Nations (3, 4).

INTERNATIONAL PLANNING LESSONS - CANADIAN CONSIDERATIONS

Service system designs were closely aligned with available policy levers in specific government contexts. Policy levers for either insurance or grant-based models are available to provincial and territorial governments.

True increases in access were only brought about with increased supply of psychotherapy providers. **Data on baseline** workforce capacity is needed to guide increase in supply.

Both plans have featured strong engagement with a broad range of providers, including GPs. Broad support in principle from GPs and other providers already exists, but support for specific reforms will need to be built.

Engagement with service users and inclusion of peer support has been limited. Canada has an opportunity to be a leader in service user engagement and peer support.

Time invested in upfront planning prevented the UK from running into some of the implementation challenges experienced in Australia. Evidence in hand for prevalence, unmet need, clinical effectiveness, costing, and return on investment; demonstration projects are a good next step.

Planning Considerations

Policy levers for either insurance or grant-based models are available to provincial and territorial governments. Provincial and territorial governments have already implemented grants-based approaches such as community mental health programs and centres, and have full jurisdiction over Medicare. At the same time, fiscal pressures are high across the board and some of the smaller or less populated jurisdictions may not have the capacity to utilize all available levers. However, meeting the MHCC's target of increasing mental health spending from 7% to 9% of total public health funding would only cost an estimated \$3.1B per year (now lessened by \$500M per year from the federal government over the next ten years; 76).

Data on baseline workforce capacity is needed to guide an increase in supply. Data on baseline workforce capacity is limited and what exists is fragmented. CIHI does compile some data on psychologists, social workers and occupational therapists, with new reports due in 2018 (77). Provinces and territories likewise have varying degrees of data on their allied mental health workforce, often gathered through provincial professional associations. There is likely to be at least some degree of underutilized capacity amongst non-physician mental health service providers that could be mobilized by expanded public funding (7). However, underutilized capacity was not sufficient to enable increases in access in the UK and Australia. Workforce capacity in Canada will need to be more closely tracked to ensure that new public funding results in a true increase in supply, rather than just a shift from employment-based insurance provision to publicly-funded service provision, or from pre-existing to new publicly-funded services.

Beyond the usual types of workforce data, information may also be needed regarding supervisory and training capacity, as well as capacity to deliver specific evidence-based therapies such as cognitive behavioural therapy, interpersonal therapy and so forth. In the UK, significant planning went into assessing workforce capacity, developing purpose-built training, and training up a workforce to address gaps. These resources could potentially be adapted to the Canadian context in collaboration with post-secondary training programs, professional associations, and training institutions. Regulatory frameworks and scopes of practice may also need to be reviewed and adjusted. Currently only Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick and Nova Scotia have regulations that protect the title of psychotherapist or counselling therapist, but regulation initiatives are underway in several other provinces (78).

Broad support in principle from GPs and other providers already exists, but support for specific reforms will need to be built. All the relevant Canadian professional associations, including the College of Family Physicians of Canada, expressed

support for expanded access to psychotherapy through the CAMIMH's 2017 report *Mental Health Now!* (79). Innovations in collaborative care have also laid a strong foundation for inter-professional collaboration in the provision of psychotherapy services. As provincial and territorial governments move forward with reforms, continued engagement with a range of providers will be needed to move from broad support in principle to support for detailed implementation including on issues such as eligibility criteria, remuneration, and scopes of practice.

Canada has an opportunity to be a leader in service user engagement and peer support. As a form of emotional and practical support between people who share common experience, peer support can make a significant contribution to improving access to mental health services and supports (80). Peer support and broader engagement of people with lived experience and their families are increasingly prioritized in Canadian mental health policy, and recognized as evidence-based practice. Both were featured as recommendations for action in the *Mental Health Strategy for Canada* (81). A 2018 research call from Health Canada asks for peer support to be studied as part of integrated primary mental health care (82), and CIHR's Strategy for Patient Oriented Research has driven service user engagement in mental health reform much as in other parts of the health system. Neither IAPT in the UK nor Better Access in Australia have been particularly strong on these fronts. Provincial and territorial governments in Canada have an opportunity to break new ground by further integrating peer support into their efforts to expand access to psychotherapy, and by further strengthening engagement with service users and families in the design and implementation of reforms.

Evidence in hand for prevalence, unmet need, clinical effectiveness, costing, and return on investment; demonstration projects are a good next step. Many of the core ingredients for planning are well in hand: the Canadian Community Health Survey data on prevalence and unmet need; evidence on clinical effectiveness has been well-documented by NICE and Canadian organizations such as Health Quality Ontario (83-84); and various studies have been carried out on costs and return on investment (85). In a detailed study regarding the costs of expanding insurance funding for psychotherapy, Vasiliadis et. al., projected costs of \$123M to provide \$1,292 worth of psychological services to ninety-five thousand Canadians with unmet need related to depression, and calculated that this would yield \$2 saved to society for every \$1 invested (86). As in the UK, demonstration projects are a good next step, to evaluate service system designs and make the case for scaling up. Although they have not said so explicitly, the level of funding announced to date by Ontario and Quebec suggests that they are both effectively starting with demonstration projects.

INTERNATIONAL FUNDING LESSONS - CANADIAN CONSIDERATIONS

The mix of first-dollar coverage and co-payments was in keeping with the rest of the health system. There are advantages and precedents for either first-dollar coverage or co-payment models.

Both grant-based and insurance-based approaches can successfully increase access AND Insurance-based approaches may require more careful cost-control measures, and grant-based approaches may need ring-fenced funding at the outset.

Canada can draw on international lessons learned to assess the trade-offs for both approaches.

The risk of cost-shifting from privately-insured to publicly-funded services needs to be considered in context. The risk of cost-shifting from Canadian employment-based insurance can be analysed in advance.

Funding Considerations

There are advantages and precedents for both first-dollar coverage and co-payment models. A first-dollar, insurance-based approach (i.e. expanding Medicare eligibility for psychologists and other allied mental health professionals) would encourage seamless integration with physician and hospital services, remove financial barriers to access, and promote the parity of psychotherapy with other health services. While there have been some expansions to public health insurance in Canada (e.g. through expanded coverage for prescription medications), these reforms have generally been targeted to particular age groups or income levels, and have included some form of co-payment, either through user fees or the tax system. Co-payments would allow for more seamless integration of publicly-funded psychotherapy with employment-based benefits and discourage cost-shifting from the private to the public sector, but may not be well received given the

equity impacts and the value Canadians place on first-dollar health coverage. Provincial and territorial reforms have thus far adopted first-dollar grants-based approaches in their efforts to improve access to psychotherapy, through community mental health services and some forms of collaborative care.

Canada can draw on international lessons learned to assess the trade-offs for insurance-based and grants-based approaches. Either approach could be adapted to the Canadian context, but there are trade-offs between the degree of control over costs and other outcomes, and the administrative resources required to implement the reform. Lessons learned in the UK suggest that grants-based approaches would provide provincial and territorial governments with a high degree of control over costs and fidelity to evidence-based approaches, but would also require significant resources for the administration of everything from training to targets to data collection. Ring-fenced funding was also needed in the first few years of IAPT, and would also be advisable in Canada given the tremendous pressures faced by provincial and territorial health budgets. Lessons learned from Australia suggest that insurance-based approaches would enable provincial and territorial governments to increase access without much investment in program administration, but would also provide less control over costs and quality. At the same time, insurance-based reforms in Canada could prepare for high demand and stronger performance monitoring through some combination of workforce increases, soft caps on the number of sessions, and more rigorous data collection from the outset.

The risk of cost-shifting from Canadian employment-based insurance can be analysed in advance. Given that approximately two thirds of people living in Canada have access to employment-based benefits (2), and given the Australian experience with drops in private insurance claims after the expansion of public insurance (29), provincial and territorial policy-makers would do well to analyse the risk of cost-shifting in advance. The interests and incentives in an employment-based system are different from those that prevail in Australia, where citizens purchase insurance directly. In Canada, the insurance industry earns income from the sale of insurance, employers pay for a benefits package as part of employee remuneration, and the costs to employers go up depending on how many claims are made by employees. With increased public funding in Canada, whether through grants-based or insurance-based reform, employers may have new incentives to scale back their mental health benefits. Mechanisms that could be considered to mitigate this risk include: only making public services available to people without employment-based benefits, including comparable co-payments and regulating the insurance sector (as in the Quebec pharmacare model). That said, the scale of private health insurance utilization for psychotherapy is small relative to unmet need (30) and targeted programs with co-payments are likely to be less popular. Policy-makers in Canada may opt to provide first-dollar universal coverage to broaden the reach of reforms and thus the base of public support.

Whatever approach is taken, Canadian policy-makers will also need to consider the impact on existing publicly-funded services. For example, a first-dollar insurance-based model could duplicate the mandate of current community mental health organizations, and lead to a diminished funding base that could undermine their viability. On the other hand, grants-based approaches could be rolled out through existing community organizations, primary care teams, hospital outpatient programs, and so forth.

INTERNATIONAL SERVICE PROVISION LESSONS – CANADIAN CONSIDERATIONS

A range of providers with clear scopes of practice can be effectively deployed, with or without tight ties to registration and legislation. Canada has access to a broad range of allied providers, supported by regulation and/or certification.

While system control and continuity of care is greater with GP-referral, self-referral empowers service users and promotes equitable access. Ideally, both GP-referral and self-referral will be allowed.

Effective stepped care requires seamless transitions, both within and between services (including primary healthcare). A strong stepped care approach, with more low than high intensity services and seamless transitions, will require strong change management AND Seamless integration with federally-funded services requires additional attention in the Canadian context

Direct implementation support plays a key role in a grant-based approach. Several sources of implementation support can be considered in the Canadian context.

Strict adherence to evidence-based approaches demonstrates strong outcomes, but requires strong management and constrains choice. At a minimum, access should be expanded to the same therapies currently supported by the NICE guidelines.

The average number of sessions seems to naturally land at 5 to 6, although the range will vary considerably. A mix of caps and flexibility regarding the number of sessions is warranted.

Service Provision Considerations

Canada has access to a broad range of allied providers, supported by regulation and/or certification. Better Access expanded Medicare eligibility in Australia to regulated psychologists, social workers and occupational therapists, with clinical psychologists remunerated at a higher level. IAPT went further by training a purpose-built workforce of low intensity therapists, and by tying eligibility for higher intensity therapists and supervisors to IAPT-approved skills in evidence-based approaches rather than to professional associations. Canadian policy-makers have a range of resources to draw on to effectively and efficiently expand access to psychotherapy. Psychologists, social workers, occupational therapists and nurses are regulated in all Canadian provinces and two territories. To date Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick and Nova Scotia have regulations that protect the title of psychotherapist or counselling therapist (78). Master's-level degrees in psychotherapy and counselling are offered in various fields such as education and theology, and certification programs are also available in the peer support, psychosocial rehabilitation and substance use fields. While additional training and legislation may be needed to assure capacity in particular therapeutic modalities, the infrastructure for a broad range of allied psychotherapy providers is in place.

Ideally, both GP-referral and self-referral will be allowed. In Canada currently, GP-referral is generally needed to access psychotherapy services through grants-based collaborative care models, through employment-based insurance, and through insured services for federal populations. Self-referral is also generally allowed for access to grants-based community mental health centres. Given this mix, both referral methods will ideally be available for any expanded public program. This flexibility will be important for equitable access given high rates of physician shortages in Canada, particularly in northern and remote regions. Self-referral may also be more appealing to groups that have low rates of service utilization, such as men and immigrant, refugee, ethno-cultural and racialized (IRER) populations (72, 87).

A strong stepped care approach, with more low than high intensity services and seamless transitions, will require strong change management. Some low intensity services are in place in different jurisdictions, including online guided self-management programs such as Bounce Back, Strongest Families, Medeo and Therapy Assistance Online. However, neither low nor high intensity services are consistently available across the country. Giving priority to low intensity services for mild problems may be challenging given the unmet need for face-to-face psychotherapy for moderate problems and the

on-going pressing need for even more specialized services for more complex or severe issues. Step-up and step-down transitions will be more seamless to the extent that services are housed in a stand-alone program such as IAPT. Moreover, expanded psychotherapy services will need to establish seamless transitions with substance use services, primary healthcare (especially those practices that already focus on collaborative mental health care), and more specialized and acute health care, in addition to services in other sectors such as education and housing. For example, many universities have developed significant mental health counselling services, and integrated youth hubs that provide free psychotherapy in the community have been emerging in different jurisdictions.

Seamless integration with federally-funded services requires additional attention in the Canadian context. The fact that select population groups have access to federally-funded psychotherapy will need to be addressed in the provision of new services. Policy-makers will need to work with First Nations, Inuit and Métis to identify how best to strengthen the continuum of culturally-safe mental wellness services, without exacerbating fragmentation between provincial, territorial and federal programs. Similarly, coordination between levels of government will be needed to make the most of expanded services for veterans, military personnel, refugees, and people in the criminal justice system. For example, careful attention to differences in remuneration and co-payments will be required to ensure equity between federal, provincial and territorial programs, and to coordinate human resource planning.

Several sources of implementation support can be considered in the Canadian context. At the pan-Canadian level, the Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement has considerable expertise in on-the-ground quality improvement, the MHCC and CCSA also have expertise in moving evidence into practice, and the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health can also support implementation by reviewing evidence for clinical effectiveness. While the 2018 external review of pan-Canadian Health Organizations made sweeping recommendations regarding the specific mandates of these organizations, it also included a strong endorsement of the role of implementation support in driving system transformation (88). Accreditation Canada also exerts considerable influence through its standards for community and inpatient mental health services. At the provincial level, health quality councils have varying degrees of capacity to support implementation of psychotherapy reforms. Research organizations may also be able to contribute, whether CIHR through SPOR and other programs, provincial research funds, or philanthropic research initiatives.

At a minimum, access should be expanded to the same therapies currently supported by the NICE guidelines. While IAPT started with a narrower range of therapies, these have broadened over time in response to NICE guideline changes. Provincial and territorial governments in Canada should at a minimum start with this broader range of therapies. How this is implemented will depend on whether policy-makers opt for a more hands-on or hands-off approach. An IAPT-style hands-on approach would see the service system get directly involved in training and supervising service providers, rather than the Australian model that leaves it up to professional associations to regulate the skills of its members in partnership with the universities that deliver accredited professional training.

A mix of caps and flexibility regarding the number of sessions is warranted. Based on the international experience, an average of 5-6 sessions (with considerable variation in the range) can be expected. If an insurance-based approach is taken, some form of caps would be advised to prevent runaway demand as occurred in Australia. At the same time, hard caps with no flexibility would be too rigid given the range of sessions needed. In the Canadian context, collaboration between expanding publicly-funded programs and employment-based insurance will also be important, to prevent cost-shifting from the private sector and to maximize increased access across the population. Similar consideration should be given to alignment with the number of sessions offered through existing publicly-funded programs at both provincial/territorial and federal levels.

INTERNATIONAL EQUITY AND SCOPE LESSONS – CANADIAN CONSIDERATIONS

Despite being universal, both IAPT and BA have run into equity problems AND Universal approaches can be combined with targeted programming to promote equitable uptake AND Specific equity targets are needed to hold both IAPT and Better Access accountable for equitable outcomes. Whether a universal, targeted or combined approach is taken in Canada, specific equity targets should be set and monitored.

A narrow scope makes it easier to demonstrate results, but also creates pressures to broaden the reach. Best to start with a clear focus on mild to moderate depression and anxiety, and plan for future expansions.

People with substance use disorders may well benefit and should not be excluded from psychotherapy services. Canada has an opportunity to break new ground in explicitly including people with substance use problems and concurrent disorders.

Equity and Scope Considerations

Whether a universal, targeted or combined approach is taken in Canada, specific equity targets should be set and monitored. Under the existing two-tier system, there are significant financial barriers for those least able to afford to pay for psychotherapy services. Moreover, low income people often face additional barriers related to racialization, stigma, housing, precarious employment and so forth, all of which are risk factors for mental health. Provincial and territorial governments could reasonably opt to take a targeted approach, by either limiting expanded funding to particular populations such as youth or to lower income groups much as has been done with targeted pharmacare insurance. Alternatively, governments could also reasonably opt for a universal approach, with the expectation that access for low-income and other disadvantaged groups would improve in absolute terms if the funding base is sufficiently large. Combining a universal approach with some targeted funding for outreach to marginalized groups would help to reduce remaining equity gaps. This outreach could be done in partnership with community organizations that have strong ties to diverse groups and the capacity to adapt psychotherapy modalities to specific cultural and other contexts.

Regardless of the approach taken, it is imperative that specific equity targets should be set and monitored from the outset, so that adjustments can be made to ensure that disparities in access and outcomes are being addressed. In the Canadian context, a broad range of socio-demographic data are of interest, including Indigenous identity, ethnicity, race, language, income, rurality, gender, age, sexual orientation, ability, country of birth, and so forth. To take just one example, linguistic diversity is on the rise in Canada; 7.7 million Canadians report a mother tongue other than English or French in 2016, 13% more than in 2011 (89). Given the central role of communication in psychotherapy, access to talking therapies in diverse languages is of great importance, including for official language minorities.

Best to start with a clear focus on mild to moderate depression and anxiety, and plan for future expansions. A narrow, clearly defined focus on people with mild to moderate illnesses was fundamental to the ability of both IAPT and Better Access to demonstrate results. Eligibility criteria are applied through either the IAPT screening process or the GP-referral and treatment plan stage of Better Access. With its initial focus on getting people back to work, IAPT also started with adults and only expanded to children and youth in a second stage. Accordingly, regardless of whether provincial and territorial governments opt for a grants-based or insurance-based approach, lessons learned from Australia and the UK suggest that it would be wise to start with clear focus on mild to moderate depression and anxiety, and possibly, only for one age group. At the same time, policy-makers could consider communicating a medium-term intention to expand to other age groups and to people with more complex needs once results have been demonstrated, and to consider integrating psychotherapy services sooner where possible within existing budgets.

Canada has an opportunity to break new ground in explicitly including people with substance use problems and concurrent disorders. While a narrow scope will be important, policy-makers in Canada have an opportunity to break new ground by explicitly including people living with mild to moderate substance use disorders as eligible recipients of new publicly-funded psychotherapy, as well as people with concurrent disorders. This inclusion would further the efforts of provincial and territorial governments to better integrate mental health and substance use services.

A true learning system requires significant investment in data, coupled with inspirational leadership. Expanded psychotherapy services are well-positioned to contribute to a learning mental health system.

Clear targets increase accountability, but can create unintended incentives. Clear targets should be set in the context of a learning system.

Clinical supervision plays a key role in promoting fidelity to evidence-based approaches. Supervisory requirements should be built into expanded services.

Monitoring Considerations

Expanded psychotherapy services are well-positioned to contribute to a learning mental health system. A commitment to transparent performance measurement was clearly articulated in all the agreements-in-principle for the new \$5B targeted federal transfer for mental health. CIHI is leading work with federal, provincial and territorial governments to establish 3 to 5 common indicators that are being tied to bilateral agreements for this new transfer (90-91). As a contribution or complement to these common indicators, data on expanded psychotherapy services could include referral rates, wait-times, service utilization, symptom reduction, recovery outcomes (such as employment status or sense of belonging), and equitable access. Such a full range of data collection would be comparable to IAPT, particularly if outcome data is collected at each session, and would require inspired clinical leadership to mitigate the risk of workplace stress amongst service providers. Ideally all the provincial and territorial governments who introduce reforms in this area would agree to collect similar data that could then be publicly-reported through CIHI. With enough political will, Canada could aspire to surpass the UK by carefully tracking a broad range of recovery, equity and return-on-investment outcomes. If jurisdictions opt to expand public health insurance, at a minimum this would mean that administrative data on a par with existing physician billing data could be collected. Whether just administrative data or a full range of performance indicators are collected, Canada could considerably strengthen its current understanding of mild to moderate depression and anxiety and the effectiveness of psychotherapy services. This information will help to contextualize commonlyreported indicators at other levels of the system, such as hospital readmission rates (90). It will also be important to monitor changes in stigma, as declining stigma may encourage more people to seek services and drive up wait-times despite increased public funding. The stigma module from the 2012 Canadian Community Health Survey could be repeated to that end (92).

Clear targets should be set in the context of a learning system. Agreement on health targets are notoriously challenging in Canada's constitutional context. Nevertheless, in the current climate of openness to indicator frameworks and interest in learning systems, policy-makers could aspire to meet or exceed the 50% target for clinical recovery that was just achieved by IAPT, and to meet or exceed the percentage point increase in access to treatment for mental disorders attained by Australia (27, 14). In keeping with policy commitments to a recovery-orientation, targets could be set for a broader range of recovery outcomes related to meaningful employment, education, housing, community engagement, self-determination, peer support, equity and so forth (93). As with robust data collection, careful attention would need to be paid to inspired clinical leadership as an antidote to the inherent risk of gaming that comes with any target.

Supervisory requirements should be built into expanded services. Depending on the approach taken, supervision requirements could align with current regulations governing the practice of eligible provider groups, much as was done with Better Access, or could be purpose-built for particular evidence-based therapies, as was done with IAPT.

INTERNATIONAL SUSTAINABILITY LESSONS — CANADIAN CONSIDERATIONS

Bi-partisan support and high-profile champions have been important for securing and sustaining investment. Champions need to be cultivated in Canada including service users and families.

Sustainability Considerations

Champions need to be cultivated in Canada, including service users and families. There is a risk of reforms getting derailed by federal/provincial/territorial dynamics, particularly as any expanded funding for psychotherapy will likely stem from the federal \$5B transfer. There is no clear champion for access to psychotherapy in Canada on par with David Clark and Richard Layard in the UK. For these reasons, it will be particularly important for policy-makers to cultivate both clinical and political champions, building on existing leadership forums, mental health networks, conferences and so forth. There is also an important opportunity to support service users and families to take on this role in the Canadian context.

CONCLUSION OF THE SECOND COMPONENT

The second component of this two-part discussion paper has mapped lessons learned from Australia and the UK onto the Canadian context. Either an insurance-based or grants-based approach would be feasible in Canada's more decentralized context. Policy-makers have many trade-offs and details to consider, from building workforce capacity to reducing the risk of cost-shifting from private insurance to breaking new ground with regard to peer support, engagement of people with lived experience and the inclusion of substance use disorders. A final component of this discussion paper considers how UK and Australian models could be adapted in the Canadian context by means of three illustrative examples: a grants-based approach, an insurance-based approach, and intensive integration of psychotherapy into collaborative care.

Illustrative Examples

Canadian grant-based psychotherapy model

Grant-based models for improving access to psychotherapy in Canada that both build on and adapts lessons learned from IAPT could include the following features:

Grant distribution. Provincial and territorial governments would flow funds for new psychotherapy services to existing commissioning bodies such as health authorities, regional hospitals, primary care networks, etc.

Eligible recipients. The initial scope would be people with mild to moderate mental and substance use problems, with a commitment to broaden services in a next phase; new services would be seamlessly integrated with federally-funded psychotherapy services for First Nations and Inuit and other population groups.

Eligible therapies. At a minimum, services offered would include the range of low and high-intensity evidence-based modalities offered through IAPT; flexible caps, stepped care, and referrals – including self-referral, GP-referral and referrals from other agencies - would be part of the service system design.

Eligible providers. All provider groups with demonstrated capacity to deliver the eligible therapies would be eligible; provincial and territorial governments would work with regulated providers to assess and strengthen capacity, to assess and increase supply, and to broaden regulation to include psychotherapy and/or clinical therapy where required. Certification programs for peer support and wellness workers would also be included in some capacity.

Service delivery locations. Services would be delivered in a variety of locations, including community mental health centres, community health centres, primary care networks, hospital out-patient settings, community agencies serving diverse population groups, and also in schools, youth or seniors centres, etc.; some would be offered online or by telephone.

First dollar or co-payments? Policy-makers would assess the trade-offs between first-dollar coverage to align with other publicly-funded services (both grant and insurance-based) and reduce inequities, and co-payments to align with employment-based services and reduce the risk of cost-shifting.

Engagement. Robust engagement with service providers and service users would be undertaken at all stages of program design, implementation and evaluation.

Accountability. The strongest possible performance monitoring would need to be in place, particularly as IAPT's command-and-control model is less common in Canada's more decentralized provincial and territorial systems; equity targets would be set from the outset, and return on investment would be tracked along with clinical and broader recovery outcomes.

Canadian insurance-based psychotherapy model

Insurance-based models for improving access to psychotherapy in Canada that both build on and adapts lessons learned from Better Access could include the following features:

Funding mechanism. Provincial and territorial governments would expand their public health insurance schedules to cover psychotherapy services by eligible providers.

Eligible recipients. The initial scope would be people with mild to moderate mental and substance use problems, with a commitment to broaden services in a next phase; new services would be seamlessly integrated with federally-funded psychotherapy services for First Nations and Inuit and other population groups.

Eligible therapies. At a minimum, Medicare items would cover the same range of evidence-based modalities eligible under Better Access; a flexible 10-session cap would be in place from the outset to reduce the risk of cost overruns; both self-referral and GP-referral would be allowed (without a GP treatment plan); and more attention would be paid to the development of a stepped care model from the outset.

Eligible providers. Regulated allied mental health professionals would be eligible, including psychologists, social workers, OTs, nurses and (in Ontario, Quebec and Nova Scotia) psychotherapists or counselling therapists; provincial and territorial governments would work with regulated providers to assess and strengthen capacity, to assess and increase supply, and to broaden regulation where required. Certification programs for peer support and wellness workers would also be included in some capacity.

Service delivery locations. While providers would be working on a fee-for-service basis, services could be delivered not just in private offices but in a variety of locations, including community mental health centres, community health centres, primary care networks, hospital out-patient settings, community agencies serving diverse population groups, and also in schools, youth or seniors centres, etc.; some services could also be offered online or by telephone.

First dollar or co-payments? Policy-makers would assess the trade-offs between first-dollar coverage to align with other Medicare services (and reduce inequities), and co-payments to align with employment-based services (and reduce the risk of cost-shifting).

Engagement. Robust engagement with service providers and service users would be undertaken at all stages of program design, implementation and evaluation.

Accountability. Canadian reforms would also draw on administrative health insurance data, but could go further than Better Access by establishing a stronger evaluation framework and more robust reporting requirements; equity targets would be set from the outset.

Canadian collaborative care-based psychotherapy model

Collaborative care models encourage a holistic approach to a person's needs, encompassing both mental and physical health as well as the interaction between the two.

While both IAPT and Better Access have included strong engagement with GPs and primary care, neither model has focused on collaborative primary healthcare as the main vehicle for improving access to psychotherapy. However, collaborative-care based models may be a more viable option in the Canadian context, where provincial and territorial governments have been working to integrate allied mental health providers into primary care settings in various ways for several decades. With increased funding, collaborative care might be able to provide timely access to psychotherapy for the population as a whole.

Collaborative care-based models for improving access to psychotherapy in Canada could be implemented through either a grant-based or insurance-based approach, with the same features (accountability, eligibility, etc.) described in the respective illustrative examples. In addition, key considerations for using collaborative care as the vehicle for reform could include:

Grant-based approach. Provincial and territorial governments could flow funds to improve access to psychotherapy directly to collaborative care practices, or indirectly through health authorities or other commissioning bodies. Collaborative care practices would then either hire allied mental health professionals on salary or on contract to provide eligible psychotherapy services. Examples of this model include Family Health Teams in Ontario, and the Primary Health Networks being developed in BC.

Insurance-based approach. Provincial and territorial governments could expand insurance schedules to cover psychotherapy services provided by allied mental health professionals who are in private practice yet formally attached to a collaborative care team. This approach would be similar to the GP-referral mechanism under Better Access but would require even stronger integration with primary care.

References

- 1. Sunderland, A. & Findlay, L. C. (2013). Perceived need for mental health care in Canada: Results from the 2012 Canadian Community Health Survey—Mental Health. Statistics Canada Health Reports, 24(9), 3—9.
- 2. Canadian Life and Health Insurance Industry. (2016). Canadian life and health insurance facts [Internet]. Toronto: Author. Retrieved from:
- https://www.clhia.ca/domino/html/clhia/CLHIA LP4W LND Webstation.nsf/resources/Factbook 2/\$file/2016+CLHIA+Factbook+ENG.pdf
- 3. Jacobs, P., Dewa, C., Lesage, A., Vasiliadis, H.-M., Escober, C., Mulvale, G. & Yim, R. (2010). The cost of mental health and substance abuse services in Canada. Edmonton: Institute of Health Economics.
- 4. Wang, J., Jacobs, P., Ohinmaa, A., Dezetter, A., Lesage, A. (2017). Public expenditures for mental health services in Canadian provinces. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743717741059
- 5. Ontario. (2017). Ontario Providing Faster Access to Mental Health Services for Thousands of People: news release [Internet]. Retrieved from https://news.ontario.ca/mohltc/en/2017/02/ontario-providing-faster-access-to-mental-health-services-for-thousands-of-people.html
- 6. Quebec. (2017). Santé mentale Le Gouvernement du Québec annonce la création d'un programme public de psychothérapie : fil d'information [Internet]. Retrieved from http://www.fil-information.gouv.qc.ca/Pages/Article.aspx?idArticle=2512031288
- 7. Chodos, H. (2017). Options for improving access to counselling, psychotherapy and psychological services for mental health problems and illnesses. Ottawa: Mental Health Commission of Canada.
- 8. Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2017). Roundtable: Exploring policy considerations for expanding access to counselling, psychotherapy and psychological services (summary report). Ottawa: Author.
- 9. Frank, R. G. (2000). The Creation of Medicare and Medicaid: The Emergence of Insurance and Markets for Mental Health Services. Psychiatric Services, 51(4), 465-468.
- 10. Busch, S. H. (2012). Implications of the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act. The American Journal of Psychiatry, 169(1), 1–3.
- 11. Peachey D, Hicks V, Adams O. An imperative for change: Access to psychological services for Canada. Toronto: Health Intelligence Inc. Retrived from www.cpa.ca/docs/File/Position/An Imperative for Change.pdf.
- 12. Layard, P. R. G. & Clark, D. M. (2014). Thrive: The power of evidence-based psychological therapies. London: Lane.
- 13. Australia. (2017). Better Access to Psychiatrists, Psychologists and General Practitioners through MBS Initiative [Internet]. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.au/mentalhealth-betteraccess
- 14. Whiteford, H. A., Buckingham, W. J., Harris, M. G., Burgess, P. M., Pirkis, J. E., Barendregt, J. J., & Hall, W. D. (2014). Estimating treatment rates for mental disorders in Australia. Australian Health Review, 38(1), 80.
- 15. Meadows, G. N., Enticott, J. C., Inder, B., Russell, G. M., & Gurr, R. (2015). Better access to mental health care and the failure of the Medicare principle of universality. The Medical Journal of Australia, 202(4), 190–194.

- 16. Bartram, M. (2017). Government structure and equity in access to psychotherapy: A study of Canada, with comparisons to Australia and the United Kingdom (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Ottawa: Carleton University. Retrieved from https://catalogue.library.carleton.ca/record=b4463850
- 17. Health Workforce Australia [2014]: Australia's Health Workforce Series Psychologists in Focus. Adelaide: Author.
- 18. Cohen, A. (2008). IAPT: A Brief History. Healthcare Counselling and Psychotherapy Journal, April, 8-11.
- 19. National Networking Forum. (2018). IAPT National Networking Forum 2018 [website]. Retrieved from http://www.iapt-nnf.co.uk/Home/ViewEvent/77
- 20. NHS Clinical Commissioners. (n.d.). About CCGs [website]. Retrieved from https://www.nhscc.org/ccgs/
- 21. We Need to Talk Coalition. (2014). An Urgent Need: We Need to Talk's Manifesto for Better Talking Therapies for All [website]. Retrieved from https://www.mind.org.uk/media/1178860/we-need-to-talk-briefing-september-2014.pdf
- 22. Australia. (n.d.). GP Mental Health Treatment Plan. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/448D0A68808278D7CA257BF0001B74FD/\$File/gpsamp.pdf
- 23. Pirkis, J., Ftanou, M., Williamson, M., Machlin, A., Warr, D., Christo, J., Castan, L., Spittal, M. J. Bassilios, B., & Harris, M. (2010). Evaluation of the Better Access to Psychiatrists, Psychologists and GPs through the Medicare Benefits Schedule Initiative: Component A: A study of consumers and their outcomes (Final Report). Melbourne: Centre for Health Policy, Programs and Economics, University of Melbourne. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/3F9BB14D11A037B6CA257BF0001E45A8/\$File/A.pdf
- 24. Hann, A., Hemming, L., Billsborough, J., Couperthwaite, L., Hewis, E., Pinfold, V., & Hamilton. S. (2015). A Service user evaluation of the IAPT for SMI demonstration sites. McPin Foundation and NHS England. Retrieved from http://mcpin.org/wp-content/uploads/Full-report-from-service-user-evaluation-of-IAPT-for-SMI.pdf
- 25. NHS Southwest Yorkshire Partnership. (2015). Talking Therapy Online with Big White Wall [website]. Retrieved from http://www.southwestyorkshire.nhs.uk/news/articles/2015/01/taking-therapy-online-big-white-wall/
- 26. National Commission of Audit (Australia), Shepherd, A. F. (2014). Towards responsible government: The report of the National Commission of Audit. Canberra: Author.
- 27. Community and Mental Health team. (2017). Psychological therapies: Annual report on the use of IAPT services, England 2016-17. Leeds: Health and Social Care Information Centre. Retrieved from https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB30157
- 28. Australian Psychological Society. (2012). Recent Changes to the Better Access Session Allowance [website]. Melbourne: Author. Retrieved from https://www.psychology.org.au/news/BetterAccess/changes2012/.
- 29. Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. (n.d.) Private Health Insurance Administration Council: Archived reports. Sydney: Author. Retrieved from http://www.apra.gov.au/PHI/PHIAC-Archive/Pages/PHIAC-Archive-PHIAC-A-Report.aspx
 30. Diminic, S. & Bartram, M. (2018, under review). Does introducing public funding for psychotherapy lead to reductions in private insurance claims? Lessons for Canada from the Australian experience? *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*.

- 31. Commission on the Future of Health and Social Care in England. (2014). The UK Private Health Market. London, UK: The King's Fund. Retrieved from https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/commission-appendix-uk-private-health-market.pdf
- 32. NHS England. (2015). National Curriculum for the Education of Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners [3rd edition]. London: Author. Retrieved from https://www.ucl.ac.uk/pals/research/cehp/research-groups/core/pwp-review/docs/PWPREVIE_-curriculum
- 33. NHS England and Health Education England. (2016). 2015 Adult IAPT Workforce Census Report. London, UK: Author. Retrieved from https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2016/09/adult-iapt-workforce-census-report-15.pdf
- 34. Australian Psychological Society. (2014). Table of Medical Benefits Schedule fees and rebates for psychology items. Melbourne: Author. Retrieved from https://www.psychology.org.au/Assets/Files/2014-Table-of-MedicareBenefits Web.pdf
- 35. Australia. (2017). Better access to mental health care: Fact sheet for professionals [Internet]. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mental-ba-fact-prof
- 36. National Mental Health Commission,.(2014). The National Review of Mental Health Programmes and Services. Sydney: Author.
- 37. OECD. (2018). Doctors (indicator). Retrieved from https://data.oecd.org/healthres/doctors.htm
- 38. Greenhill, J. A., Walker, J., & Playford, D. (2015). Outcomes of Australian Rural Clinical Schools: A Decade of Success Building the Rural Medical Workforce through the Education and Training Continuum. Rural and Remote Health, 15, 1-14. Retrieved from https://www.rrh.org.au/public/assets/article_documents/article_print_2991.pdf
- 39. Clark, D. M., Layard, R., Smithies, R., Richards, D. A., Suckling, R., & Wright, B. (2009). Improving access to psychological therapy: Initial evaluation of two UK demonstration sites. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 47(11), 910–920.
- 40. NHS. (2017). Five Year Forward View for Mental Health: One Year On. London: Author. Retrieved from https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/fyfv-mh-one-year-on.pdf
- 41. Australia. (2015). Primary Health Networks Grant Programme Guide: Annexure A1 Primary Mental Health Care. Canberra: Author. Retrieved from
- $\frac{\text{http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/F4F85B97E22A94CACA257F86007C7D1F/\$File/Annexure/20A1%20-%20Primary%20Mental%20Health%20Care.pdf}$
- 42. NHS England. (n.d.). Adult IAPT Programme: Digital Therapy Selection [website]. London: Author. Retrieved from https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/iapt/digital-therapy-selection/
- 43. Australia. (2014). Education and training component: Better access initiative [Internet]. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mental-ba-edu
- 44. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd. (n.d.). Mental health training standards 2017-2019: A guide for general practitioners [website]. Retrieved from
- $\frac{https://www.racgp.org.au/download/Documents/Mental\%20Health/2017-19-Mental-health-training-standards-A-guide-for-GPs.pdf$

- 45. Muran, J. C., & Barber, J. P. (Eds.). (2010). The therapeutic alliance: an evidence-based guide to practice. New York: Guilford Press.
- 46. Australian Government. (n.d.). Medicare Benefits Schedule Note MN.7.1 [website]. Retrieved from http://www9.health.gov.au/mbs/fullDisplay.cfm?type=note&q=MN.7.1&qt=noteID&criteria=psychological%20therapy%2 Oservices
- 47. Australian Psychological Association. (2012). Providing Treatment Under the Better Access Initiative in 2012. Canberra: Author. Retrieved from
- https://www.psychology.org.au/Assets/Files/2012 Providing treatment under BetterAccess Psychologist information sheet 1March2012[1].pdf
- 48. Community and Mental Health team. (2015). Psychological therapies: Annual report on the use of IAPT services, England 2014-15. Leeds: Health and Social Care Information Centre. Retrieved from http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB19098
- 49. Australia. (2014). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health performance framework 2014 report. Canberra: Author. Retrieved from https://www.pmc.gov.au/sites/default/files/publications/Indigenous/Health-Performance-Framework-2014/tier-3-health-system-performance/310-access-mental-health-services.html
- 50. Community and Mental Health statistics team, Health and Social Care Information Centre, (2014). Psychological therapies, England: Annual report on the use of Improving Access to Psychological Therapies services 2012/13. Leeds: Health and Social Care Information Centre. Retrieved from http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB13339
- 51. Community and Mental Health team. (2016). Psychological therapies: Annual report on the use of IAPT services, England 2015-16. Leeds: Health and Social Care Information Centre. Retrieved from http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB22110
- 52. UK Department of Health. (2008). IAPT Implementation Plan: Curriculum for High-Intensity Therapies Workers. London: Author. Retrieved from https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/246046/11919343/implementation-plan-curriculum-for-high8208intensity-therapies-workers.pdf/88d52978-44ca-47ad-a317-d9b8e1042ef4
- 53. NICE. (2011). Common Mental Health Problems: Identification and Pathways to Care. London: Author. Retrieved from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG123/chapter/1-Guidance#improving-access-to-services
- 54. NHS England. (n.d.). Adult IAPT Programme: Older People [website]. London: Author. Retrieved from https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/iapt/older-people/
- 55. Council of Australian Governments Health Council. (2017). The fifth national mental health and suicide prevention plan. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, Department of Health.
- 56. IAPT, Drugscope and NHS National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse. (2015). IAPT positive practice guide for working with people who use drugs and alcohol. Retrieved from https://drugscopelegacysite.files.wordpress.com/2015/06/iapt-drug-and-alcohol-positive-practice-guide.pdf
- 57. Turpin, G. & Wheeler, S. (2011). IAPT Supervision Guidance. IAPT and NHS. Retrieved from https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/246046/11919343/IAPT+Supervision+Guidance+2011.pdf/3a8f6c76-cea0-4f76-af78-e2f0a1f64c5e
- 58. Hickie, I. B., Rosenberg, S., & Davenport, T. A. (2011). Australia's Better Access Initiative: Still Awaiting Serious Evaluation? Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 45(10), 814–823.

- 59. Pirkis, J., Harris, M., Ftanou, M., & Williamson, M. (2011). Not Letting the Ideal be the Enemy of the Good: The Case of the Better Access Evaluation. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 45(11), 911–914.
- 60. General Practices Services Committee. (2017). Implementation of the Integrated System of Primary and Community Care: Team-based care through Primary Care Networks Guidance to Collaborative Services Committees. Retrieved from http://www.gpscbc.ca/sites/default/files/PMH%20PCN%20CSC%20Guidance%20201712.pdf
- 61. Canada. (2018). Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Home and Community Care and Mental Health and Addictions Services Funding Agreement. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/corporate/transparency/health-agreements/shared-health-priorities/newfoundland-labrador.html
- 62. Phillips, K. (2016). Federal Health Care Funding in the Current Economic Context. Ottawa: Library of Parliament. Retrieved from https://hillnotes.ca/2016/02/03/federal-health-care-funding-in-the-current-economic-context/
- 63. Australia, Australia Institute of Health and Welfare. (2017). Health Expenditure Australia 2015-16. Canberra: Author.
- 64. Barua, B., Palacios, M. & Emes, J. (2017). The Sustainability of Health Care Spending in Canada 2017. Fraser Institute.
- 65. Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2012). Territorial and Provincial Initiatives for Improving Mental Health in Primary Health Care in Canada: An Environmental Scan. Calgary: Author. Retrieved from https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/PrimaryCare Environmental Scan ENG 0.pdf
- 66. Aggarwal, M. & Hutchison, B. (2012). Toward a Primary Care Strategy for Canada. Ottawa: Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement. Retrieved from http://www.cfhi-fcass.ca/Libraries/Reports/Primary-Care-Strategy-EN.sflb.ashx
- 67. Marchildon, G. P. & Hutchison, B. (2016). Primary Care in Ontario, Canada: New Proposals after 15 Years of Reform. Health Policy, 120(7), 732-738.
- 68. Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2018). Kids Can't Wait: Improving Mental Health Outcomes for Ontario's Children and Youth 2018 Pre-Budget Submission. Toronto: Author. Retrieved from https://cmho.org/education-resources/cmho-s-latest-work
- 69. The Conference Board of Canada. (2014). Final Report: An External Evaluation of the Family Health Team (FHT) Initiative. Ottawa: Author.
- 70. Canada. (2018). Non-Insured Health Benefit Program and Indian Residential Schools Health Resolution Support Program: Guide to mental health counselling services. Ottawa, ON: Author. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.canada.ca/en/Indigenous-services-canada/services/first-nations-inuit-health/non-insured-health-benefits/benefits-information/mental-health-counselling-benefits/guide-mental-health-counselling-services-first-nations-inuit-health.html#a33
- 71. Medavie Blue Cross. (2017). IFHP Benefit Grid Supplemental Coverage [website]. Retrieved from https://docs.medaviebc.ca/providers/benefit grids/IFHP-Benefit-Grid-Supplemental-new-Version-English.pdf
- 72. Vasiliadis, H.-M., Tempier, R., Lesage, A., & Kates, N. (2009). General Practice and Mental Health Care: Determinants of Outpatient Service Use. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie, 54(7), 468–476.
- 73. Marchildon, G. (2016) Bilateral Health Agreements between the Federal and Provincial/Territorial Governments in Canada. IRPP Insight, 13, 1-20.

- 74. Ramsay, C. (2017). Manulife increases mental health coverage for employees to \$10K per year. Global News [website]. Retrieved from https://globalnews.ca/news/3175067/manulife-increases-mental-health-coverage-for-employees-to-10k-per-year/
- 75. Ramsay C. (2016). Starbucks Canada boosts mental health benefits to \$5K per year. Global News [website]. Retrieved from https://globalnews.ca/news/2988902/starbucks-canada-boosts-mental-health-benefits-to-5k-per-year/
- 76. Bartram, M., & Lurie, S. (2017). Closing the Mental Health Gap: The Long and Winding Road? Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health, 17, 1–14.
- 77. Canadian Institute for Health Information. (n.d.) Health Workforce Database Metadate [website]. Retrieved from https://www.cihi.ca/en/health-workforce-database-metadata
- 78. Canadian Counselling Psychotherapy Association. (n.d.). Regulation across Canada [website]. Retrieved from https://www.ccpa-accp.ca/profession/regulation-across-canada/
- 79. Canadian Alliance on Mental Illness and Mental Health. (2016). Mental Health Now! Advancing the Mental Health of Canadians: The Federal Role. Retrieved from http://www.camimh.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/CAMIMH_MHN_EN_Final_Nov2016.pdf
- 80. Peer Support Canada. (n.d). About Peer Support Canada [website]. Retrieved from http://peersupportcanada.ca
- 81. Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2012). Changing Directions, Changing Lives: The Mental Health Strategy for Canada. Calgary: Author.
- 82. Health Canada. (2018). The Health Care Policy Contribution Program [website]. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/programs/health-care-policy-contribution-program.html
- 83. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2009). Depression in Adults: The Treatment and Management of Depression in Adults. London, UK: Author. Retrieved from http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg90/chapter/key-priorities-for-implementation
- 84. Health Quality Ontario. (2016). Major Depression: Care for Adults and Adolescents [Quality Standard]. Retrieved from http://www.hqontario.ca/portals/0/documents/evidence/quality-standards/qs-depression-clinical-guide-1609-en.pdf
- 85. Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2017). Strengthening the Case for Investing in Canada's Mental Health System: Economic Considerations. Ottawa: Author.
- 86. Vasiliadis, H.-M., Dezetter, A., Latimer, E., Drapeau, M., & Lesage, A. (2017). Assessing the Costs and Benefits of Insuring Psychological Services as Part of Medicare for Depression in Canada. Psychiatric Services, 68(9), 899–906.
- 87. Clement, S., Schauman, O., Graham, T., Maggioni, F., Evans-Lacko, S., Bezborodovs, N., Morgan, C., Rüsch, N., Brown, J. S., & Thornicroft, G. (2015). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Psychological Medicine*, *45*(1), 11-27. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714000129.
- 88. Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2018). Selecting pan-Canadian indicators for access to mental health and addiction services, and to home and community care: Progress report. Ottawa, ON: Author.
- 89. Statistics Canada. (2017) Census in Brief: Linguistic Diversity and Multiculturalism in Canadian Homes. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/2016010/98-200-x2016010-eng.cfm

- 90. Butler, A., Adair, C. E., Jones, W., Kurdyak, P., Vigod, S., Smith, M., Lesage, A., Bolton, J., Madi, N., Sareen, J., Enns, M., Rochette, L., Rittenbach, K., Bakal, J., Youngson, E., Clelland, S., Bercov, M., Santana, M. & Goldner, E. M. (2017). Towards Quality Mental Health Services in Canada: A Comparison of Performance Indicators across 5 Provinces. Vancouver BC: Centre for Applied Research in Mental Health & Addiction (CARMHA).
- 91. Canada. (2018). Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Home and Community Care and Mental Health and Addictions Services Funding Agreement. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/corporate/transparency/health-agreements/shared-health-priorities/newfoundland-labrador.html
- 92. Stuart, H., Patten, S. B., Koller, M., Modgill, G. & Liinamaa, T. (2014). Stigma in Canada: Results from a Rapid Response Survey. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 59(10 Suppl 1), S27-S33.
- 93. Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2015). Guidelines for Recovery-Oriented Practice. Ottawa: Author.





Mental Health Commission of Canada

Suite 1210, 350 Albert Street Ottawa, ON K1R 1A4

Tel: 613.683.3755 Fax: 613.798.2989

info@mentalhealthcommission.ca www.mentalhealthcommission.ca

■ @MHCC_ ¶/theMHCC ►/1MHCC @@theMHCC in/Mental Health Commission of Canada